our role
our vision
To be a leader in a sustainable Victorian
timber industry.

VicForests was established as an outcome
of the Victorian Government's Our Forests
Our Future policy. We are responsible
for the sustainable harvest and sale of
native forest timbers from the public
forest estate in eastern Victoria.

We are also responsible to the Victorian
Government through the Treasurer, as
shareholder and responsible Minister,
and the Minister for Agriculture, who has
responsibility for commercial forest policy.

our purpose

our values

To build a responsible business that generates
the best community value from the commercial
management of Victoria’s State forests.

Accountable

Customer focussed

Open

VicForests is accountable to the Victorian
Government. Its actions and those of its
employees must be consistent with
relevant Government policy and priorities.

VicForests will be responsive to its
customers’ requirements and seek
customer satisfaction, in accordance
with its commercial nature.

VicForests will manage the commercial
harvesting and sale of timber in a
framework of openness and transparency.

Committed

Ethical

VicForests is committed to the fulfilment
of its purpose and the achievement of
its vision for the Victorian timber industry.

VicForests will operate in an ethical and
environmentally responsible manner in
all its undertakings to ensure the integrity
and sustainability of the native forest
timber industry in Victoria.

VicForests and its staff will operate in a
professional manner in all undertakings
to ensure the best possible outcomes
for the organisation, its customers,
the Victorian timber industry and
its stakeholders.

Innovative

Sustainable

VicForests seeks to be innovative and
adaptable in its organisational, business
and forestry management operations.

VicForests will pursue the highest
standards for forest management
practices through the continued
development of its Sustainable Forest
Management System and by ensuring
its triple bottom line performance
against the requirements of Victoria’s
Sustainability Charter for State forests.

Safe
VicForests and its staff will manage safe
workplaces for all staff and contractors,
and are committed to continuous
improvement in safety systems and
outcomes, in accordance with its
Occupational Health and Safety Policy.
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As a State-owned enterprise, VicForests
is an autonomous commercial entity
administered by an independent Board
of Directors.
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Professional
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Chairman’s report
21 September 2009

The financial year 2008-09
has been a particularly
difficult year for the
organisation, with the
devastating summer fires
severely affecting our
operations, and hence,
our financial results.

The catastrophic February fires caused
extensive loss of life and damage to
property. A total of 173 people lost their
lives and more than 70 communities
were affected by the disaster.
Additionally, 430,000 hectares (ha) of
land was burned and much of this was
stocked with prime ready-to-harvest
trees. During the fires no harvesting
activities took place in the region and
most of VicForests’, own field staff and
key contractors spent up to seven weeks
in the field on fire fighting duties.
This, of course, meant that the most
productive and profitable harvesting
period over the summer months was
lost, which, combined with significant
stock losses, negatively affected our
financial results for the year.
VicForests was able to organise a timber
salvage harvesting program in rapid time.
Before the end of March the program
was underway, assisted by a grant
from the Government, compensating
VicForests and its contractors for the
additional operating expenses associated
with salvage harvesting.

warren hodgson
Chairman

As a result, large quantities of burnt but
fully usable timber were able to be
delivered to both sawlog and pulplog
customers, leaving green areas untouched
and banked for future years.

The first year of operation following the
tender process for harvest and haul work
has generally gone well. Some of these
harvest and haul contracts will be
re-tendered next year when the current
arrangements expire.
I would like to thank my fellow Board
members – Monica Gould, Jim Houghton,
Fiona McNabb, Bob Smith and Susan
Walpole – for their commitment and
hard work this year.
I would also like to acknowledge the
outstanding contributions of retiring
Board members Catherine Scott and
inaugural Chairman Paul Barker.
Additionally, I would like to recognise
the efforts of all VicForests’ staff and
contractors of the organisation and to
thank them for their endeavours on
behalf of the organisation in this
extremely demanding year.

The Hon. John Lenders
Treasurer
Department of Treasury and Finance
1 Treasury Place
Melbourne VIC 3000

Dear Treasurer,
VICFORESTS' ANNUAL REPORT
Please find attached the 2009 Annual Report of VicForests, including a Report of Operations
and the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009, for presentation to Parliament,
pursuant to Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994.

Yours sincerely,

Warren Hodgson
Chairman

Risk attestation statement
I, Warren Hodgson, certify that VicForests has risk management processes in place consistent with the Australian/
New Zealand Risk Management Standard (or designated equivalent) and an internal control system is in place
that enables the executive to understand, manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee verifies this assurance and that the risk profile of VicForests has been critically reviewed
within the last 12 months.
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vicforests’ structure
VicForests’ Board of Directors
(as of 30 June 2009)

Meeting Performance
Name of Meeting

Chair

Meeting Frequency

Number of Meetings
held 2008-09

Board

Paul Barker
Warren Hodgson

Eight meetings
scheduled per year

4
7

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Catherine Scott
Fiona McNabb

Quarterly

2
3

Executive Remuneration Committee

Warren Hodgson

Annually

1

Committees
Audit and Risk
Management Committee
The primary objective of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee (ARMC) is
to assist the Board to fulfil its corporate
governance and oversight responsibilities
relating to financial accounting practices,
risk management, internal control systems,
external financial reporting and the
internal and external audit function.

Specifically, the ARMC’s role is to report
to the Board and provide appropriate
advice and recommendations on matters
relevant to these areas in order to facilitate
decision-making by the Board.
The Committee comprises:

Executive Remuneration Committee
The Executive Remuneration Committee
determines executive remuneration in
accordance with Government policy.
The Committee comprises:
Warren Hodgson (Chair)

Fiona McNabb (Chair)

Jim Houghton

Monica Gould

Susan Walpole

Bob Smith

Vicforests’ executive
From left to right: Fiona McNabb, Jim Houghton, Susan Walpole, Bob Smith, Monica Gould, Warren Hodgson.

warren hodgson

Jim houghton

bob smith

Chairman
(from 19 March 2009)

BEc, Grad Dip Bus Admin

BSc (Hons 1), MSc, MBA, PhD

BSc, FAICD

Director, Hire Thinking Pty Ltd

Director, Melbourne Water
Director, Cube Management Solutions

Director, First Super Pty Ltd
Director, Forest Products Commission
of West Australia

David Pollard

stephen Gatley

Robert Green

gerhard hinz

Director, Leaf Carbon Pty Ltd

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Accountant

Chief Financial Officer

BEcon (Hons), MA (Econ),
PhD (Syd)

BComm, CA (NZICA)

Director, Sales
and Planning

Director (Chair), CenITex
Director, AssetCo

Hon. Monica Gould
Retired
Director Youth Projects Inc

FIONA Mcnabb

susan walpole

BSc, CFTP, GAICD

B. Juris., LLB, Grad. Dip.
(Media Management)

Deputy Director, VicSuper
Director, O’Brien Software Services
Pty Ltd
Board member, Australian
Poetry Centre
Board member, Baseball Victoria
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BComm (Econ) Hons

Director, Victorian Legal
Aid Commission
Chair, Audit Committee, Victorian
Legal Aid Commission

cameron macdonald

barry vaughan

Brad winthrop

Director, Strategy and
Corporate Affairs

Regional Manager
East Gippsland

Regional Manager
Central Highlands

BSc (For) Hons, Grad Dip Acctg,
MBA, CPA, MIFA

BSc (For), MBA

Dip Forestry
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Chief Executive
Officer’s report
This year has provided
many challenges for the
organisation and staff.
Of utmost concern was
the series of wildfires,
which commenced in
February and burned
a significant part of
the estate within which
we operate.

These fires affected VicForests’ operational
results negatively. Additionally, of course,
we have also been affected by the global
financial crisis resulting in lower demand
for our customers’ products, and hence
ours. On the other hand, staff and the
Board worked with a great deal of
goodwill and effectiveness to ensure
that the difficulties which the year has
thrown up have been met with
professionalism and energy.

Fires and VicForests
Performance
The third set of catastrophic fires in six
years has severely affected the year end
results of VicForests. Just as the financial
recovery from the 2006-07 fires was
underway, the February wildfires
intervened with the loss of the best
harvestable areas along with a sizeable
store of logs ready for delivery.

David Pollard
Chief Executive Officer

This, combined with the loss of seven
weeks of prime harvesting for staff
and contractors, meant that we report
a net loss for the 2008-09 financial
year of $5.0 million. As discussed in
the notes to the accounts, we are
currently attempting to resolve a pricing
dispute with a major customer, which
has had a significant impact on the
year’s performance.

Fire Response
The contribution of VicForests staff and
contractors to this year’s fire suppression
activities, with their high degree of
expertise and commitment, was
exceptional. The contribution of the
timber industry as a whole to the
fire suppression efforts was crucial.
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Their efforts during this difficult period
were remarkable, considering the high
personal toll these fires had on many
of those involved.
Major fires are fought with heavy
equipment and VicForests has access
to large amounts of this in the summer
season. During the 2009 fires, 36 of
VicForests’ harvest and haul contractors
were used in the fire suppression effort.
Plant supplied included bulldozers,
excavators, skidders and floats. As part
of their contracts, contractor resources
are made available for fire suppression
activities and paid when they are
deployed for fire fighting purposes.
The benefit of using highly experienced
contractors for fire suppression is
significant in that they know the
forest and the limitations of machines
deployed in any forest environment. It
follows that the future of native forest
harvesting in Victoria is linked to the
State’s ability to retain adequate fire
fighting capacity.
The majority of VicForests’ own staff
contributed directly to the firefighting
effort and, because they had a high
degree of experience in fire suppression,
made a very significant contribution to
fire control and community recovery.

Industry Impacts
Some of VicForests’ customers and
contractors were directly affected by
the fires. These effects included the loss
of assets and reduced harvesting and
log supplies for many weeks.
The disruption to forest access and
uncertainty in the future resource supply
caused by the fires resulted in VicForests
issuing Force Majeure notices on all
contracts based in the Central Highlands
Region. VicForests is endeavouring to lift
these Force Majeure notices by way of a
range of mitigation measures.

Salvage
As mentioned, VicForests began a
program of salvage harvesting as soon
as re-entry to fire affected areas of
Ash forest was safe and feasible.
This program is necessary to recover
value from stands of burnt but
commercially valuable timber.

Salvage harvesting is
consistent with sound
forestry practice elsewhere
in the world and will
assist in ensuring that
harvesting takes place
from among burnt stands
in 2008-09 and 2009-10,
with green stands
banked for future access.
Due to the higher harvesting costs, this
program of salvage harvesting is
marginally uncommercial for VicForests.
Considering VicForests’ commercial
remit but also recognising the value of
the program to the State, the Board
approached the Treasurer for funds to
meet the shortfall between the cost of
the salvage harvesting operation and
level of return at which it would have
been commercially viable. The Treasurer
responded in June with a grant to meet
some of the additional costs associated
with the program. Salvage harvesting
has been a highly successful element in
Victoria’s fire recovery story.

Bushfire Recovery
As a result of the wildfires, large areas
of Mountain Ash and Alpine Ash
containing young regeneration (less
than 20 years old) were killed and lacked
enough viable seed in the canopy for
self regeneration. Fortunately, large
volumes of seed resulting from excellent
crops had been collected by VicForests
during the last 12 months, ensuring
sufficient stocks were available to meet
the increased demand. VicForests and
the Department of Sustainability and
Environment (DSE) commenced the
largest sowing program ever conducted
by these organisations during autumn
and early winter, covering almost
3,800 ha.

Future Impact of the Fires
on VicForests
The Joint Statement on Harvesting
Levels (JoSHL) noted in last year’s
Annual Report estimated that, prior to
the 2009 fires, East Gippsland could
produce 173,000 m3 of D+ sawlog per
annum while Central Highlands could
produce 324,000 m3 of D+ sawlog p.a.
until 2024. These figures now need to
be revisited, given the impact of the
fires, which have burnt a significant
proportion of the Central Highlands
Ash resource.
It is our view that while existing sawlog
and pulplog contractual commitments
can be met, overall, the industry in
Victoria is on a vector of long-term
contraction and that there will be an
increasing dependence on lower quality
forest until regrowth forest matures to
sufficient size in about 30 years.
Employment will continue to be a
concern of ours along with available
log volumes and varying quality.
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The year has seen the first full year of
operation of the new business model
and subsequent organisational
restructure referred to in last year's report.
This reorganisation was aimed at a
range of structural and practice based
improvements, especially:

Harvest and Haul Tender
Following the successful completion
of the transition to auction for log sales
and the introduction of Mill Door Sales
to VicForests' forest operations, the
organisation put to competitive tender
the harvest and haul work of its
contractors. The first tranche of offers
was made in July and the second and
final in September. In all, some 175
separate contracts were awarded to
competing entities and, given that some
contractors were awarded multiple
contracts, we were left with 79 separate
contracting companies working for us,
five of which were new entrants. The
total value of contracts over the next
two to five years which have been
awarded was some $320 million, with
an annual value of about $84 million,
a very significant amount of work.
Contracts for tenures ranging from
two to five years were offered from
1 October 2008. They contained varied
terms in order for VicForests to migrate
to a tender system, where about 20%
of contracts are offered to the market
each year.
The advantages of a competitive tender
for the awarding of this work are varied,
but they include the higher levels of
certainty, which contractors have in
planning the work of their businesses
and their enhanced ability to invest in
up-to-date plant. For VicForests, the
advantage is much better control over
the outcomes of our contractor
workforce and improved ability to
reward superior work results.
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	Clarification of the boundary
between long-term tactical and
operational planning needs.
	Greater emphasis on, and centralisation
of, planning with a view to better
control over supply conditions and
enhanced customer certainty.
	Removal of obsolete
organisational units.
	A focus on better regional
accountabilities, more assured
organisational decision-making
and better defined interfaces with
major stakeholders.
	More efficient contractor
supervision practice.

S ta ff 5 Y e ar In c id en t Su m m ar y
The new Central Highlands region,
VicForests is committed to providing a
centred at Healesville, celebrated the
safe and healthy working environment
20
opening of its head office in September
for our employees, contractors and other
1 8 J. Lenders MLC
with the Treasurer, Hon.
visitors who may enter our work areas.
6
officiating. The office1accommodates
26 staff and manages1 4a region which
For the 2008-09 financial year the Lost
extends to Corryong and
1 2 Heyfield.
Time Injury Frequency
Rate (LTIFR) for
L TIs
The outcomes of the 1restructure
were
0
L TIFR
VicForests staff
was 10.8 which is an
Number
assessed and evaluated
S eve
ra te
8 at the end of
increase from
therityprevious
financial year.
the year. The review was
positive.
This is a result of three lost time injuries
6
(LTIs), two due to trips in the forest
Certification 4
environment and one due to a vehicle
2
accident. There were also five medical
VicForests had two surveillance
audits
0
treatment
injuries in the same period.
during the year against the20Australian
0 4 -0 5 2 00 5 -0 6 2 00 6 -0 7 2 0 07 -0 8 20
0 8 -0 9
Forestry Standard (AFS). The results of
This continues to compare favourably
Y e ar
these were positive and VicForests
with other native forestry organisations
remains certified to the AFS Standard.
in Australia, where LTIFR ranged from 11
The last audit in June 2009 concluded
to 22 in 2007-08. It should also be noted
the series of surveillance audits.
that injury severity continues to decline.

20
18
16
14

number

Finalisation of the
Organisational Restructure

Staff 5 year incident summary

Occupational Health and
Safety (OH&S)

The implementation of this re-structure
continued through the year.

70

4
2
0
2004-05

10
0
2006 -07

200 7 -08
Y e ar

While not included in the statistics,
fire suppression activities for the DSE
was a significant source of incidents
for VicForests’ staff, resulting in three
medical treatment injuries. VicForests’
claim costs continue to improve and
are at a low of $2,522 for 2008-09, a
significant reduction from 2007-08.

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

YEAR

contractor 3 year
incident summary
90

LTIs
80
70

financial year.
The LTIFR forLTIs
2008-09 for harvest and
LTIFR
haulage contractors
was 19.3. This is
everity rate
the result ofS16
lost time injuries, spread
evenly across the activities conducted by
these contractors. After the third year of
harvest and haulage management for
VicForests, there is improved confidence
200 8-09
that incident reporting is occurring
and the current level of incidents is the
benchmark for future improvement.
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VicForests will need to be re certified
From the graphs it can be seen that
in 2009-10. We see the value of
where members of the contractor
certification as a set of benefits
C o to
n tr a cto r 3 Y e ar In c id e n t Sworkforce
u m m ar y have an injury it is likely
customers in marketing, more systematic
to have more significant personal
operating procedures 90
for us and greater
consequences than for VicForests staff.
focus on the social and
environmental
Contractor OH&S will continue to be
80
impacts of the business.
a significant focus for VicForests next
We have attempted to60gain Forest
Steward Council (FSC) certification as
50
well. In November we undertook an
40
audit against the FSCNumber
interim (Woodmark)
30
Standard and we are working
through
the findings from this20
audit report.
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LTIFR

60

Severity rate
number

We are confident that the process
revealed a genuine market level of price
and that this will continue in the coming
years as we award work annually in a
measured and controlled manner.

50
40
30
20
10
0
2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

YEAR

VicForests had a significant focus on
truck incidents in this financial year,
working with other bodies to identify
problem areas and provide information,
primarily about static rollover threshold,
to contractors and their drivers.
This effort has led to a 60% reduction
in log truck incidents in this period.

There was a noticeable spike in incidents
when contractors resumed normal work
following the Black Saturday bushfires.
Harvest and haulage activities, as noted,
ceased during this period. It is believed
that this spike may be due to a rush to get
back to normal work while also dealing
with the direct consequences of the fires.
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Sustainability Charter
In 2006 the Minister for the
Environment and the Minister for
Agriculture launched the Sustainability
Charter for Victoria’s State forests.
The Charter is a requirement of Section
11 of the Sustainable Forests (Timber)
Act 2004. In addition, VicForests is
specifically required by Section 12 of the
Act to respond to the objectives of the
Sustainability Charter by developing
initiatives and targets in support of
those objectives.
VicForests has two primary mechanisms
for addressing this requirement.
The first is the VicForests’ Sustainable
Forest Management System (SFMS),
which has been developed and certified
to the Australian Forestry Standard.
The second is VicForests’ Corporate
and Business Plans, which are developed
annually and outline initiatives and
strategies for the organisation.
The VicForests Sustainability Report
describes the projects that we have
initiated in response to the Charter
and our progress.

Long-term Timber Supply
Since the release of the JoSHL statement
in May 2008, VicForests has been
working to analyse the impact of the
2009 wildfires and address the issues
that were flagged in this report.
The 2009 fires severely burnt about
10,000 ha of Ash forest that is available
for timber harvesting, or about 10%
of the Ash resource in the Central
Highlands area.

Of this, about 5,000 ha were 1939
regrowth. In addition, the fire severely
burnt about 14,000 ha of mixed
species forest, or about 14% of
the mixed species resource in the
Central Highlands.
VicForests intends, as noted, to salvage
harvest about 3,000 ha of the severely
burnt Ash stands over the next two
years. While significant in the shortterm, VicForests’ modelling will indicate
the impact of the 2009 fires on
long-term timber availability.
Of greater significance to VicForests
is the issue of the commercial viability
of parts of State forest available for
timber production. The JoSHL report
highlighted the fact that about 20% of
the available resource lies in coupes that
are small, low in volume or distant from
roads or mills and may be viable only
under favourable market conditions.
VicForests is also currently modelling
the financial impact of harvesting this
resource. Results of this modelling
will be available in the course of the
2009-10 financial year.
The Department of Primary Industries
has developed the draft Timber Industry
Strategy (TIS) for Victoria which
addresses a range of issues to take
forest management and the timber
industry forward, following the success
of Our Forests Our Future. The draft
TIS offers some useful proposals
for assisting and rationalising the
operations of the industry in Victoria.

VicForests welcomes, as a significant boost to
the industry, the proposals to enhance access to
the resource, enhance the operation of efficient
timber markets and both encourage investment
and drive innovation.

Photo credit - Newspix/Stuart McEvoy
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Corporate Plan to Date Performance Against Plan
VicForests’ strategies for the period
2008-09 are built on the significant
achievements which the organisation
has made since its commencement on
1 August 2004. Within this time,
VicForests has implemented major reforms
for the Victorian native forest processing
industry and the native forest harvesting
and haulage sector. These initiatives
have delivered against the State
Government’s Our Forests Our Future
policy commitments and the organisation’s
own commercial remit as described in
the Order In Council by which VicForests
was established. The key elements of
this program of reform, which have now
been successfully delivered, are:
	Implementation of an open,
competitive, online sales platform.
The Price Allocation Model has
resulted in unit price increases of up
to 50% for some log products in
previous years auctions. No major
auctions were conducted in 2008-09
due to the business disruption of the
2009 bushfires.
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	Moving from stumpage (in-forest)
sales to Mill Door (delivered) Sales.
The move from stumpage sales to
Mill Door Sales transformed VicForests
into a commercial forest management
and logistics business, with greater
ability to manage the distribution of
timber to the most appropriate and
highest value markets.
	Achieving forest management
certification.
VicForests has achieved forest
management certification to the
Australian Forestry Standard and
is continuing to pursue certification
to the alternative Forest Stewardship
Council standard.
	Developing a sound understanding
of VicForests’ timber resource
base and capacity to analyse.
VicForests continues to develop its
expert capacity in timber resource
modelling and analysis.
	Moving VicForests to a modern,
efficient, commercially-focused
forestry business.
VicForests has completed its
business model implementation
and reorganisation. This process has
resulted in a better alignment
between VicForests’ structure and its
commercial remit, which will continue
to generate organisational efficiencies.

	Implementation of transparent
arrangements for engagement
of harvest and haulage services.
To enable a seamless transition to
delivered sales in 2006, VicForests
assumed responsibility for the harvest
and haulage contractors which
were previously contracted to or
engaged by harvesting syndicates.
The competitive tender of harvest
and haul contracts during the
past year was the final process
for this initiative.
	The 2008-09 Corporate Plan
signalled a transition in business
focus from implementation of
VicForests’ major reform agenda
to commercial performance and
continuous improvement. Progress
has been made against the initiatives
identified in this plan, despite the
business and industry disruption
resulting from the 2009 wildfires.

Table 1. Summary of ProgreSs AgainSt 2008-09
Corporate Plan InitiativeS
Strategic Initiatives

Status

Undertake an assessment of VicForests’
unutilised residual resource to underpin
business development opportunities.

Preliminary work was completed during 2008-09 and results
incorporated into the feasibility of biomass and the Low Grade Log
Sales Project. Further work may be required in the future to explore
more sophisticated resource utilisation options.

Undertake detailed assessment and
feasibility study for potential Orientated
Strand Lumber (OSL) investment.

Feasibility considered under the Low Grade Log Sales Project. It is
unlikely that an investor would consider OSL as an attractive option at
this point in time. Results have been incorporated into the Low Grade
Log Sales project.

Undertake feasibility of supply for
biomass energy production with
potential customers.

Significant work achieved during 2008-09. Work will continue
in 2009-10.

Investigate process management models
for application to VicForests.

Lean management tool selected and will be implemented during the
current planning cycle.

Assess and benchmark the costs of forest
management planning and regulation
to VicForests.

Deferred in the short-term due to other priorities.

Implement phase two of LogTracker:
the move towards electronic log sales
recording devices.

Will be completed in current planning cycle.

Enhance VicForests’ staff and contractor
safety programs through
a suite of targeted initiatives.

OH&S management system is now in place and embedded within the
organisation and contractor workforce.

Targeted relationship building around
strategic issues and initiatives.

Incorporated into stakeholder engagement strategy.

Develop an employer branding strategy.

Incorporated into stakeholder engagement strategy.

Develop and implement a leadership
capability development framework.

Deferred and rolled into ongoing business training and development.
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The Future
Notwithstanding the adverse financial
impact on VicForests in 2008-09
through the loss of stands and the loss
of harvesting time in the peak period,
it is expected that the organisation will
return to profitability in 2009-10.
This will be achieved through a
combination of maintaining revenue
and a program of cost reduction.
The 2009-10 Corporate Plan will continue
to consolidate the key reforms that
VicForests has implemented over the
last five years. It will do this by more
clearly focusing on business efficiency
and improvement of its commercial
performance within the context of
both our business environment and
the Government policy framework
within which it operates.
Stakeholder Engagement Strategy
A consolidated and long-term stakeholder
engagement strategy was completed in
2008-09. The outcomes of this strategy
will be to:
	Strengthen relationships and develop
a unified and cohesive forest industry.
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	Establish understanding and positive
perceptions of VicForests and the
forestry industry.
	Mitigate threats which may affect
the reputation of VicForests.
	Enable staff to understand their role
in engagement by being active in
dealing with stakeholders.
E stablish the most effective
methods of communication for
different groups and individuals.
The organisation also undertook an
assessment of the effectiveness of its
communications strategy and decided
that current efforts did not sufficiently
match the size or complexity of the
communications challenge. VicForests’
stakeholders consist of the entire
community of Victoria whose assets we
manage. In the coming year, therefore,
the organisation will design a series of
messages to reach its extensive audience.
Central to this will be a set of messages
concerning the organisation’s social
licence to operate – that is, the degree
to which the organisation meets social
expectations. The organisation has a
good story to tell but to a large degree
its message is being weakened by an

insufficiently robust presentation of the
facts around, and indeed the science of
forestry. We intend to increase our own
skill level in this area and to tell the story
more effectively. We will also work
more closely with stakeholders to present
and argue the case of forestry’s
continuing important role in a future
carbon constrained economy.
Commencement of the Low Grade
Log Sales Project
Initiatives to explore higher value market
options for low grade logs have been
consolidated into the Low Grade Log
Sales Project. This project aims to describe
the properties of this resource, quantify
its future availability, assess the feasibility
of new market opportunities and
determine the most appropriate method
of marketing and allocation. The first two
stages of this work are largely complete,
providing VicForests with greatly improved
clarity on the characteristics of this
resource and its suitability for potentially
feasible markets. The estimation of
future availability of this resource will
be finalised once the impact of the
2009 wildfires is better understood.
Further stages of marketing and
allocation will progress during the
2009-10 financial year.

Feasibility of Supply of Biomass
for Energy Production with
Potential Customers
VicForests has initiated discussions with
a number of potential customers, and
commenced a project with a private
industry partner, to explore the feasibility
of utilising wood residues from harvesting
operations for energy production. A
field trial was conducted to understand
the logistics of handling this material.
Available volume has been quantified
and a model has been developed to
understand the cost of logistics and
transport for a range of different scenarios.

Implementation of a Modern
Supply Chain Management System
The formal implementation of phase
one of VicForests’ supply chain
management system, LogTracker, was
completed in 2008. Phase two of the
implementation of LogTracker was
planned to commence in the final quarter
of 2008-09. This has not occurred as
organisational resources were directed
to fire recovery activities during this period.
However, further improvement in the
functionality of the system has been
achieved and commencement of phase
two of LogTracker will occur in 2009-10.

This work, combined with market analysis,
has demonstrated that opportunities
exist to utilise this residual material
commercially, particularly within a
favourable policy environment.

Occupational Health and
Safety system
VicForests’ OH&S management system
is now largely in place. The latest system
audit completed in June 2009 indicated
that there are no areas of nonconformance against the Australian
Standard AS/NZS 4801.

VicForests will continue to work on this
project and explore other opportunities
to develop commercially feasible outcomes.
Development of Process
Management Tools to Generate
Greater Value with Existing Resources
VicForests has explored the applicability
of a number of process management
models to improve business efficiency.
Lean Management has been selected
as a process improvement framework
to provide management and staff with
tools to review processes, improve
efficiencies within processes and
eliminate waste. VicForests’ executive
has already been trained and further
training and implementation will occur
throughout 2009-10.

VicForests’ contractor workforce had a
LTIFR of 19.3, which has increased from
10 in the first year of Mill Door Sales.
This is largely due to a significant
improvement in incident reporting by
contractors, enabling a logical
benchmark from which to work.
Further evidence of the success of
the implementation of the OH&S
management system has been a
reduction in haulage incidents by
approximately 60% from 2007-08
to 2008-09.
The management of OH&S is now
embedded within the business and will
no longer be managed as a project
through the Corporate Plan but
managed on a continuous improvement
basis with an ultimate target of no lost
time injuries. The aim for the period of
this Corporate Plan will be a 10%
reduction, annually, in lost time injuries
for staff and contractors.

In Conclusion
The year has provided
many challenges for both
VicForests and its staff and
contractors. The dedication
and professionalism shown
by all has helped the
organisation navigate
through this difficult time.
I would like to take this
opportunity to thank all
who are involved with
VicForests including the
Board, staff, contractors
and our customers.
It is hoped that, with the
strategies and initiatives
we have put in place, the
future will be positive.

David Pollard
Chief Executive Officer
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human resources
Employment
At 30 June 2009, VicForests employed 132 people (full-time equivalent), as follows:

Table 2. employment summarY
Female

Male

Totals

Executive

0

7

7

Senior managers

2

0

2

Corporate staff

11

8

19

Operations

18

86

104

Total

31

101

132

Employee Relations
No time was lost from industrial disputes during 2008-09.

The effect of the February wildfires on
VicForests has been substantial, with
the organisation sustaining commercial
losses directly and indirectly related to
these fires. The restricted accessibility
of the forest areas during and after the
fires, and the deployment of our staff
and contractors for fire fighting and fire
control activities, caused production in
Central Highlands to be stopped for
seven weeks, resulting in a reduction
of stumpage of approx. $3.0 million.
Further, VicForests had to write off burnt
timber resources in a log storage facility
near Marysville valued at $2.0 million.
VicForests was not in the position to

compensate these fire-related losses
and therefore slipped into an overall
loss environment.
The loss was further compounded by
the requirement to substantially increase
the rehabilitation provision for coupes
harvested prior to 30 June 2008 by
$3.4 million. Under accounting
standards, this adjustment is reflected
in the current years results rather than
as a prior year adjustment.
The sold volume during 2008-09
remained below the volume of the
previous year by 7%. This is directly
related to the loss of production in
Central Highlands.

Revenue, however, stayed at the
previous year’s level due to a slight
improvement in the product mix
towards sawlogs. This improvement is
also reflected in the increased stumpage
compared with last year.
VicForests commenced a comprehensive
salvage operation in March 2009 and
the Victorian Government has approved
a Bush Fire Salvage grant of $18 million,
intended to compensate VicForests
for all additional salvage expenses
exceeding the normal cost level for
green harvesting. The salvage operation
is expected to last until 2011-12.

VicForests’ 2008-09
Financial Performance at a glance:
$000
Volume (m³)

Actual 2005-06*

Actual 2006-07

Actual 2007-08

Actual 2008-09

% Difference

1,833,923

1,590,520

1,917,701

1,784,370

(7.0%)

Operating Revenue

37,245

99,117

125,767

125,335

(0.3%)

Stumpage

35,500

28,400

28,536

29,477

3.3%

% of Sales

95.3%

Earnings before Interest and Taxes

2,030

Earnings Before Tax

2,980

Less Income Tax Expense

(895)

Net Profit / (Loss) After Tax

2,085

% of Sales

5.6%

28.7%

22.7%

23.5%

(687)

230

(7,466)

(23)

770

(7,355)

6

(232)

2,331

(17)

538

(5,024)

0.4%

(4.0%)

0.0%

3.3%

* Mill Door pricing started as from 2006-07
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financial
statements 2008-09

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009
Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

1(j), 5, 21

33

343

Trade and other receivables

ASSETS
Current assets

Income statement for the reporting period
ended 30 June 2009
Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

19,407

29,019

1(m), 7

12,412

11,676

Biological timber assets

1(g), 8

3,051

3,550

48

175

9

1,250

0

10

0

0

36,201

44,763

5,849

5,159

Prepayments
Other current assets
Current tax asset

Revenue

Total current assets

Sale of Goods
Revenue from sale of forest products

1(k), 6, 21

Inventories

1(b), 3(a)

125,335

125,767

Other revenue

1(b), 3(a)

4,860

6,438

Interest

1(b), 3(a)

Other revenue

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment

1(d), 11

Intangible assets

1(n), 12

273

486

1(g), 8

7,843

3,451

9

261

0

1(i), 10 (d)

3,755

1,569

17,981

10,665

54,182

55,428

Biological timber assets

239

607

130,434

132,812

1(c), 3(b)(i)

96,178

96,780

TOTAL ASSETS

Employee expenses

3(b)(ii)

13,721

13,718

LIABILITIES

Roading and regeneration expenses

3(b)(iii)

12,351

10,505

Other expenses

3(b)(iv)

8,542

10,028

Depreciation

1(e), 11(b)

873

658

Amortisation

1(e), 1(g), 3(b)(v)

3,762

286

Borrowing expenses - loans

1(h)

113

63

Borrowing expenses - finance leases

1(h)

15

4

135,555

132,042

Total revenue
expenses
Production expenses

Other non-current assets
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

Total operating expenses

Current liabilities
Payables

1(o), 13, 21

12,257

14,608

Interest bearing liabilities

1(f), 14, 21

2,344

5,648

Employee benefits

1(p), 15

2,211

2,546

Provisions

1(s), 16

2,862

2,628

10(a)

0

589

19,674

26,019

1(f), 14, 21

172

88

Employee benefits

1(p), 15

388

292

Provisions

1(s), 16

3,200

164

17

8

0

3,768

544

Current tax liability
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net result from operating activities before net
market value adjustments, asset revaluations and
impairments of assets

Decrement in net market value of biological
timber assets
Write-down of timber assets in log storage facility

Interest bearing liabilities
(5,121)

Other liabilities

1(g), 8(c)
7

Net result before income tax
Income tax credit/ (expense)

770

1(i), 4

Net result for the period

(274)

0

Total non-current liabilities

(1,960)

0

Total Liabilities

23,442

26,563

NET ASSETS

30,740

28,865

18

28,264

21,346

1(t), 19

198

198

EQUITY

(7,355)

770

2,331

(232)

Contributed capital

(5,024)

538

Reserves
Retained earnings

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Total equity

2,278

7,321

30,740

28,865

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the reporting period endeD 30 June 2009
Note(s)
Opening balance 1 July
Prior year adjustments
Net result
Biological timber asset allocation
Increase in Revaluation Reserve
Closing balance 30 June

18

Cash Flow Statement
for the reporting period ended 30 June 2009

2009
$000

2008
$000

28,865

21,128

(19)

0

(5,024)

538

6,918

7,001

0

198

30,740

28,865

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
152,224

132,879

Interest received on cash and cash equivalents

Receipts from customers

101

500

GST received from ATO

294

1,346

0

606

152,619

135,331

(146,537)

(145,974)

Interest and other costs of finance paid

(138)

(40)

Income taxes paid

(463)

0

Income Tax refund from ATO
Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees

GST paid to the ATO
Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities

27

(921)

(623)

(148,059)

(146,637)

4,560

(11,306)

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Payments for property, plant, and equipment

(1,479)

(891)

Payment for intangible assets

(69)

(563)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

45

63

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(1,503)

(1,391)

(3,307)

5,600

Cash flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from /(repayments of) borrowings
Repayment of finance lease liabilities
Dividends paid
Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities

(60)

(84)

0

0

(3,367)

5,516

Net Increase/ (decrease) in cash held

(310)

(7,181)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
financial year

343

7,524

33

343

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
financial year

5

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the
year ended 30 June 2009
Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Accounting
General
VicForests is a State Owned Enterprise established on 28 October 2003 by the Governor in Council acting under Section 14
of the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992. VicForests commenced operations on 1 August 2004.
The financial statements of VicForests represent a general-purpose financial report that consists of an Income Statement,
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and notes accompanying these statements.
This general purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), Interpretations and other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of the Financial
Management Act 1994 and applicable Ministerial Directions.
The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual and going concern basis.
Accounting policies
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies applied are consistent with those of the prior year. Where appropriate,
comparative amounts have been amended to accord with current presentation and disclosure made of material changes
to comparatives.
Classification between current and non-current
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to the time when
each asset or liability is expected to be realised or paid. The asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to be
turned over within the next 12 months, being VicForests’ operational cycle–see Note 1(p) for a variation in relation to
employee benefits.
Rounding
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where specifically stated in
Notes 1(d), (g) and (p).
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AAS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies.
Judgements made by management in the application of AAS that have significant effects on the financial statements and
estimates with a risk of material adjustment in the next year are disclosed throughout the notes in the financial statements.
Commentary on compliance with IFRS
AAS include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Compliance with AAS ensures that
the financial statements and notes of VicForests comply with IFRS.
(b) Revenue Recognition

Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
Rendering of services
VicForests provides services to government agencies, primarily the Department of Sustainability and Environment (DSE).
Services are charged on a cost recovery basis and brought to account as work is completed.
Interest and rents
Interest and rentals are recognised as revenue when earned or the service provided.
2009 Fire Salvage Program funding
In March 2009, VicForests commenced a post-fire timber salvage harvesting program targeted at the high value fire-affected
ash stands from the 2009 bushfires. The key objectives of this program, which will be undertaken over the next three years,
are to maximise the recovery of products from fire-affected areas before the quality deteriorates to a point where the timber
is no longer commercially saleable (estimated processed value of $288 million) and to assist industry and community recovery
within and surrounding the areas most affected by the fires.
The Government approved funding up to $18 million for the period 2008-09 to 2011-12 for VicForests to conduct this
comprehensive timber recovery and salvage program in the fire affected Central Highlands region. This funding covers all
incremental operating expenses incurred by VicForests directly connected with the salvage operation.
VicForests had received $1,458,819 from this grant prior to 30 June 2009. The incremental actual expenses incurred in 2009
amounted to $1,304,836.
(c) Mill Door Sales and Harvest and Haulage
Since July 2006 VicForests has adopted the Mill Door Sales model. The harvesting and haulage sector was previously
contracted to, and controlled by, timber buyers organised into harvesting syndicates. As a result of this change, VicForests
is responsible for all associated harvesting and haulage expenditure which is recouped in increased selling prices. This new
model provides for greater efficiencies and competitive tendering.
(d) Recognition and Measurement of Assets
Property, plant and equipment represent non-current assets comprising buildings, roads and bridges, plant, equipment and
motor vehicles, used by VicForests in its operations. Items with a cost or value in excess of $1,000 are recognised as an asset
and depreciated over their useful lives. All other assets acquired are expensed directly to the Income Statement.
Initial Recognition / Acquisition
Upon the establishment of VicForests, designated assets were transferred from DSE at their written-down value which
was deemed to be fair value. Assets purchased or constructed since establishment are recognised initially at cost and
subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment in accordance with the requirements of
Financial Reporting Direction (FRD) 103D. Revaluations are conducted using management expertise and are classified as a
managerial revaluation.
The initial cost of the asset is determined by aggregating the purchase or subcontract price and directly attributable costs.
VicForests examined all assets, specifically roads, and determined that any make good costs were not material and therefore
were not recorded in the asset cost base.
Repairs and maintenance
Routine maintenance, repair costs and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to
the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised
and depreciated.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. VicForests is recognising revenue for its major
business activities as follows:
Sales of forest products
Revenue is generated from timber sales (sawlogs and pulpwood logs) and licence fees. Revenue is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the owner and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of
the transaction can be measured reliably. The point at which revenue is billable for the products sold is when the timber is
delivered to the mill door. Deliveries are billed progressively throughout the year by way of a monthly invoice at which time
the sales revenue is recognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
Revaluations of non-current assets
In accordance with FRD 103D all non-current physical assets of VicForests are classified under the Government Purpose
Classification (GPC) Group 6.Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing. After initial recognition all non-current physical assets
were measured using the revaluation model (being its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses). For plant, equipment and vehicles and assets under
construction, management has assessed that the depreciated cost represents reasonable approximation of fair value.
This has also been applied to leasehold improvements where the capital expenditure will be depreciated over the term
of the respective lease agreements.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(e) Depreciation and Amortisation of Non-Current Assets	
Where assets have separate identifiable components that have distinct useful lives and/ or residual values, a separate
depreciation rate is determined for each component.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each Balance Sheet date.
Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year, unless otherwise stated:

All assets within the GPC 6. will be revalued as per revaluation schedule in FRD 103D with a fair value assessment being
conducted annually.

Buildings

30-40 years

Revaluation increments are credited directly to equity in the asset revaluation reserve, except that, to the extend that an
increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as expense in determining
the net result, the increment is recognised as revenue in determining the net result.

Roads and bridges
Short-term
Long-term

5 years
10 years

Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit balance exists in
the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve.

Other assets
Computers and communication equipment
Fixtures and fittings, office equipment
Plant and equipment

3 years
10 years
4 years

Motor Vehicles

5 years

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within a class of property, plant and equipment are
offset against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes.
The asset revaluation reserve is not transferred to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset.
Impairment
All assets are assessed annually for indicators of impairment, except for:
Financial instrument assets
Inventories
Biological timber assets
Deferred tax assets.

Amortisation is allocated to intangible assets with finite useful lives on a systematic basis over the asset’s useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual reporting period. In addition, an
assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there are indicators that the intangible asset concerned is
impaired. If so, the assets concerned are tested to determine whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount.
A summary of the policies applied to VicForests intangible assets is as follows:

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their
recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written-off by a charge
to the Income Statement except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation reserve amount
applicable to that class of asset.

Intangible Asset

Software

Useful life

Finite

Method used

3 years prime cost

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to
sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the present value of
future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.

Internally generated/ acquired

Acquired

Impairment test/ Recoverable amount testing

Amortisation method and indicators of impairment
reviewed annually

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of the asset will be
replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made.
A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the heading revaluation reserve.
However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same class of asset was previously recognised in the Income Statement,
a reversal of that impairment loss is also recognised in the Income Statement.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(f) Leased Assets
Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where VicForests has substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the leases’ inception at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve
a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the Income
Statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. Motor vehicles acquired under finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term.
Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to
the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease, in the periods in which they are incurred, as this
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets.
Leasehold improvements
Leasehold improvements are recognised at cost and are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated
useful life of the improvement, whichever is the shorter. At balance date, leasehold improvements are depreciated over a
period of 3-20 years.
(g) Biological Timber and Make Good Assets
In 2004 when VicForests commenced operations, the Minister for the Environment made an allocation order for 15 years, in
three five year tranches to VicForests, in accordance with Part 3 of the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004. The purpose of
the allocation order is to transfer timber in State forests to VicForests for the purposes of harvesting and selling that timber
and undertaking associated management activities in relation to it. The order must be reviewed every five years or at any time
under certain circumstances.
In accordance with Part 5 of the Act, VicForests develops a series of Timber Release Plans (TRPs) for approval by the Secretary
of DSE in respect of the areas to which an allocation order applies. TRPs are for periods not exceeding five years. TRPs are
prepared for each of the seven Forestry Management Areas in which VicForests operates.
As at 30 June 2009, the Biological Timber Assets comprised the estimated standing timber available for harvest, are stated
at fair value, less estimated costs necessary to get the assets to the market. Regeneration expenses are excluded. Within the
current regulatory environment, no active and liquid market for large areas of native forest exists; therefore the timber stands
were valued using a discounted cash flow method based on expected cash flows adjusted for known variances to derive a
net present value. The calculation included:
A contingency reduction in the volume of growing timber to take into account the uncertainty in the estimates within
the TRPs. This uncertainty reflects the inherent variability in native forests in terms of both standing volume and sawlog
quality. It also reflects the fact that under the provisions of the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004, VicForests is
restricted in the annual volume that it can harvest.
A discount rate of 11% (2008: 10%) to reflect the specific risk profile of the organisation. This rate is based on a
weighted average cost of capital calculation (WACC) and reflects WACC discount rates calculated by market analysts¹
for a range of selected businesses with diversified interests in agriculture and forestry.
VicForests has an obligation to regenerate coupes at the conclusion of harvesting. In order to recognise this obligation, at
harvest’s completion VicForests sets aside a provision for the expected costs of regeneration.
During 2008, the original valuation model was reviewed in order to mirror the commercial arrangement between DSE and
VicForests and to reflect in particular VicForests’ obligations to meet the costs for regeneration after harvesting the allocated
timber. Under the revised model, VicForests will ultimately recover all costs of regeneration from DSE once successful
regeneration has been achieved. The revised model takes effect for all coupes where harvesting was completed after
1 July 2008.
Regeneration costs for coupes harvested prior to this change will be off-set against the respective Provisions for Regeneration.
At year-end VicForests assesses whether the existing provision for coupes harvested prior to 1 July 2008 is adequate. Any
movement is posted to the Income Statement.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
A provision has also been made for the expected regeneration costs for coupes harvested after 1 July 2008. These costs
are capitalised in a current and non-current make-good asset account. As these regeneration costs are incurred, they
are capitalised directly as part of the Biological Timber Assets. At year-end VicForests assesses the capitalised value of all
individual regenerated coupes establishing a fair market value representing the transfer value back to DSE once successful
regeneration has been achieved.
(h) Borrowing Expenses
Borrowing expenses are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing expenses include interest
on a loan facility provided by the Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) and finance lease charges.
(i) Taxation
VicForests is subject to the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER), which is administered by the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income, based on the
national income tax rate of 30%. This is adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, attributable to temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to
unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantially enacted. The relevant tax
rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax
asset or liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a
transaction that, at the time of the transaction, did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Current and deferred tax balances attributable to
amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call with financial
institutions and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
(k) Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value of the consideration received or receivable and subsequently measured
at amortised cost, less provisions for doubtful debts. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns and taxes paid. Trading
terms are 30 days from date of invoice rendered for both trade and other receivables. Interest is levied on overdue accounts
under the Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts, which are known to be uncollectible, are written
off. A provision for doubtful debts is established when there is objective evidence that VicForests will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount
of the provision is recognised in the Income Statement.
At 30 June 2009, a provision for doubtful debts amounting to $65,664 (2008: $94,625) was established due to objective
evidence that VicForests will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
(l) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the ATO. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of an item of expense.
Trade receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is
included as a current asset or liability in the Balance Sheet.
Cash flows arising from operating activities are disclosed in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis – i.e. inclusive of GST.
The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable or payable to the ATO is
classified as operating cash flows.

¹SOURCE: Austock Securities – Quarterly Review Report June 2009 and June 2008
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(m) Inventories
Inventories comprise harvested logs stored for future sales and seeds which are being used for the regeneration of harvested
coupes. All inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. There are two main items of inventory as
outlined below:
(i) Harvested logs
Log stocks in transit yards at 30 June 2009 represent timber harvested for sale. There are two components of the cost of
logs in transit yards:
The net market value of the biological timber asset prior to it being harvested. This is the deemed cost of the
harvested logs
The costs of extraction. These are the operating costs for the relevant VicForests region, incurred in the harvesting,
haulage and management of the process in getting the logs to the transit yard.
Where applicable, the net realisable value is based on the sales price for the particular destination for the product, less the
remaining haulage expense.
(ii) Seed
VicForests uses seed to regenerate coupes subsequent to harvest and does not as a practice sell seeds to third parties.
Furthermore, there is a limited market for Victorian native forest seed within Victoria. Therefore VicForests has adopted
standard costing to value seed. The cost calculation is based on direct labour and materials used in the seed collection
and extraction processes.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
In calculating present value, consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using Market yields at the reporting date on
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows.
Superannuation
The amount charged to the Income Statement in respect of superannuation represents the contributions made by VicForests
to the superannuation plans in respect of the current services of staff. Superannuation contributions are made to the plans
based on the relevant rules of each plan.
Employee benefit on-costs
Employee benefit on-costs, including payroll tax and workers’ compensation are recognised and included in employee
benefit liabilities and costs when the employee benefits to which they relate are recognised as liabilities.
Performance payments
Performance payments for VicForests executive officers are based on a percentage of the annual salary package provided
under their contract(s) of employment. A liability is recognised and is measured as the aggregate of the amounts accrued
under the terms of the contracts to balance date.
(q) Dividend Policy
VicForests is required to pay a dividend in accordance with a determination of the Treasurer of Victoria under the State
Owned Enterprises Act 1992. An obligation to pay a dividend only arises after consultation between the VicForests Board
and the Treasurer of Victoria and a formal determination is made by the Treasurer. In 2009 no dividend was paid (2008: $nil).

(n) Intangibles
Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. Intangible assets are recognised at
cost. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits will
flow to VicForests.
(o) Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to VicForests prior to the end of the financial year, which
are unpaid at financial year end. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition.

(r) Interest Bearing Liabilities
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless VicForests has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
(s) Provisions

(p) Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are
recognised in employee benefits liabilities in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled, at their nominal values. Employee benefits which are not
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be
made by the entity, in respect of services rendered by the employees up to the reporting date. Regardless of the expected
timing of settlements, provisions made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a current liability, unless there is an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case it
would be classified as a non-current liability.
Long service leave (LSL)
Current Liability – unconditional LSL (representing seven or more years of continuous service) is disclosed as a current liability
even where VicForests does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it does not have the unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

Regeneration of harvested coupes
Under the provisions of the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004, VicForests undertakes the regeneration of harvested areas
before divesting the coupes back to the Secretary of DSE. A provision is being maintained representing the residual value of
the costs of regenerating areas harvested for which regeneration works had not yet been completed at the reporting date
due to seasonal factors. The provision is based on the current area of land to be regenerated and the per hectare cost of
regeneration based on the expected method to be employed.
Restructure
Starting 2007-08 VicForests has implemented a new business model in order to address a number of deficiencies of
the original structure and to achieve greater operational and functional synergies and efficiencies. Provisions are being
maintained covering VicForests’ residual potential obligations under this restructure.
(t) Reserves
VicForests’ building assets are valued at fair value with any changes to the values of the assets recognised in the property
revaluation reserve. The reserves are adjusted by the deferred tax component.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
Present value – component that VicForests does not expect to settle within 12 months; and
Nominal value – component that VicForests expects to settle within 12 months.
Non-Current Liability – conditional LSL (representing less than seven years of continuous service) is disclosed as a non-current
liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service. Conditional LSL is required to be measured at present value.
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(u) Comparative Amounts
Where necessary, figures for the previous year have been reclassified to facilitate comparison.
(v) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2009
reporting period. As at 30 June 2009, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not mandatory
for financial year ended 30 June 2009. VicForests has not adopted and does not intend to adopt these standards early.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods beginning
or ending on

Impact on VicForests’
financial statements

Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods beginning
or ending on

Impact on VicForests’
financial statements

AASB 8 Operating Segments

Supersedes AASB 114
Segment Reporting

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

Not applicable

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

An accompanying amending
standard, also introduced
consequential amendments
into other Standards

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

These amendments clarify
that vesting conditions
comprise service conditions
and performance conditions
only and that other features
of a share-based payment
transaction are not
vesting conditions

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

AASB 2007 3 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 8 [AASB 5, AASB 6,
AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB
119, AASB 127, AASB 134,
AASB 136, AASB 1023 and
AASB 1038].

AASB 2008-1
Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standard - Sharebased Payments: Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations
[AASB 2]

Option to expense borrowing
cost related to a qualifying
asset had been removed.
Entities are now required to
capitalise borrowing costs
relevant to qualifying assets

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

VicForests continues to
expense borrowing costs

AASB 2007 6 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 123 [AASB 1, AASB
101, AASB 107, AASB 111,
AASB 116 & AASB 138 and
Interpretations 1 & 12]

An accompanying amending
standard, also introduced
consequential amendments
into other Standards

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

Same as AASB 123 above

Beginning 1 Jan 2009
This Amending Standard
introduces an exception to the
definition of financial liability,
to classify as equity instruments
certain puttable financial
instruments and certain
instruments that impose on an
entity an obligation to deliver
to another party a pro rata
share of the net assets of the
entity only on liquidation of
the entity

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs

AASB 2008 2 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations
arising on Liquidation
[AASB 7, AASB 101,
AASB 132, AASB 139 &
Interpretation 2]

AASB 2008 5 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from the
Annual Improvements Project
[AASBs5, 7 101, 102, 107,
108, 110, 116, 118, 119,
120, 123, 127, 128, 129,
131, 132, 134, 136, 138,
139, 140, 141, 1023 & 1038]

Beginning 1 Jan 2009
Some amendments result
in accounting changes for
presentation, recognition and
measurement purposes, while
some other amendments
that relate to terminology
and editorial changes are
expected to have no or
minimal effect on
VicForests’s accounting

Impact is being evaluated

AASB 2008 7 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate [AASB 1, AASB
118, AASB 121, AASB 127 &
AASB 136]

Changes mainly relate to
treatment of dividends from
subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

Interpretation 15
–Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate
[AASB 118]

This Interpretation addresses
two issues:
1. Is the agreement within
the scope of AASB 111
Construction Contracts or
AASB 118 Revenue?
2. When should revenue from
the construction of real
estate be recognised?

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

AASB 2008 9 Amendments
to AASB 1049 for
Consistency with AASB 101

Amendments to AASB 1049
for consistency with AASB
101 (September 2007) version

Beginning 1 Jan 2009

Not applicable to public
sector entities except for
certain presentation formats
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods beginning
or ending on

Impact on VicForests’
financial statements

Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods beginning
or ending on

Impact on VicForests’
financial statements

AASB 2009-2 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards – Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments
[AASB 4, AASB 7, AASB 1023
& AASB 1038]

These amendments arise from
the issuance of Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments (Amendments
to IFRS 7) by the IASB
in March 2009. The
amendments require
enhanced disclosures about
fair value measurements and
liquidity risk

Operative for periods
beginning on or after 1 Jan
2009 that end on or after
30 Apr 2009

Impact is being evaluated.

AASB 2009-3 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards – Embedded
Derivatives
[AASB 139 & Interpretation 9]

The amendments clarify
the requirements in AASB
139 and Interpretation 9 in
relation to the treatment
of embedded derivatives
within a host contract that
is reclassified out of the
fair value through profit
or loss category

Ending 3 Jul 2009

Impact is insignificant as
VicForests does not have
embedded derivatives

AASB 2009-6 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards

This standard makes numerous
editorial amendments as a
consequence of the issuance
in September 2007 of a
revised AASB 101. For
example, the term ‘revaluation
reserve’ is changed to
‘revaluation surplus’

Operative for periods
beginning on or after 1 Jan
2009 that end on or after
30 Jun 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

AASB 2009-4 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from the
Annual Improvements Project
[AASB 2 and AASB 138 and
AASB Interpretations 9 & 16]

Various consequential
amendments to existing
standards as a result
of IASB’s Annual
Improvement’s project

Beginning 1 Jul 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

Impact is being evaluated

This Standard gives effect
to consequential editorial
changes to other Australian
Accounting Standards arising
from revised AASB 3 and
amended AASB 127

Beginning 1 Jul 2009

A suite of amendments as a
result of editorial corrections
by the AASB and by the
IASB, some of which relate
to correcting errors made in
AASB 2008-12

Beginning 1 Jul 2009

AASB 2008 3 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB
3 & AASB 127
[AASB 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 101,
107, 112, 114, 116, 121,
128, 131, 132, 133, 134,
136, 137, 138 & 139 and
Interpretations 9 & 107]

AASB 2009-7 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards
[AASB 5, 7, 107, 112, 136 &
139 and Interpretation 17]

Impact is being evaluated

The amendments require
all the assets and liabilities
of a for sale subsidiary to
be classified as held-for-sale
and clarify the disclosures
required when the subsidiary
is part of a disposal group
that meets the definition of
a discontinued operation

Beginning 1 Jul 2009

Some amendments will result
in accounting changes for
presentation, recognition or
measurement purposes,
while other amendments
will relate to terminology
and editorial changes

Beginning 1 Jan 2010

AASB 2008 6 Further
Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards
arising from the Annual
Improvements project
[AASB 1 & AASB 5]

AASB 2009-5 Further
Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards
arising from the Annual
Improvements Project
[AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117,
118, 136 & 139]

AASB 2008 8 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards – Eligible Hedged
Items [AASB 139]

The amendments to AASB
139 clarify how the principles
that determine whether a
hedged risk or portion of
cash flows is eligible for
designation as a hedged
item should be applied in
particular situations

Beginning 1 Jul 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

AASB 2008-13 Amendments
to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB Interpretation 17 –
Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners
[AASB 5 & AASB 110]

Some of the amendments
are in respect of the
classification, presentation
and measurement of
non-current assets held for
distribution to owners in
their capacity as owners

Beginning 1 Jul 2009

Impact is being evaluated

VicForests Annual Report 2009

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

Impact expected to be
insignificant to VicForests

(w) Contributions by Owners
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital.
Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also been designated as contributions by owners.
Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or contributions by owners.
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Note 2. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (cont.)

VicForests’ activities expose it to a limited variety of financial risks and its overall risk management program seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of VicForests. Financial risk management is carried out by the Finance
Department under policies including a Treasury Management Policy approved by the VicForests Board of Directors.

While the above sensitivity analysis was based on the year-end balances, it needs to be acknowledged that the TCV loan is
fluctuating within any month and within its facility limit and that the actual risk exposure could vary as well and might not
exist for a whole month or year. The above analysis therefore is considered to be realistic and confirms that the market risk
exposure is minor.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments.
Market risk comprises foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. VicForests’ exposure to market risk is
primarily through interest rate risk, there is no material exposure to foreign exchange risk and no exposure to other price risks.
Objectives, policies and processes used to minimise these risks are disclosed in the paragraphs below:
i. Interest rate risk
VicForests currently requires short-term funding in order to bridge the gap between the payments to harvest and haulage
contractors (14 days after month end) and the receipt of customer payments (30 days after invoice rendered date). This
loan facility is sourced from TCV and the interest rate risk exposure is not material. Should long-term finance be required,
Management will consider a fixed rate facility.

ii. Foreign exchange risk
VicForests has no material exposure to any Foreign exchange risk as all Timber Sales Agreements are executed in Victoria
and in Australian Dollars. Purchases from foreign vendors are on an immaterial scale and are in principle affected on an
Australian Dollar basis only. Isolated foreign currency transactions are affected on spot rates.
iii. Other Price risk
VicForests has no exposure to Other Price Risk.

Summarised sensitivity analysis
The following table summarises the sensitivity of VicForests’ financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk.
It illustrates the impact on the net result and the net assets (equity) of VicForests. A 0.5% increase (and decrease) has been
used to show sensitivities for interest rates for both the year ended 30 June 2009 and also the comparative year ended
30 June 2008.

30 June 2009
Cash on hand

3

Cash at bank
TVC loan

30

Result $’000
0
(0)

+0.5%
Equity $’000

Result $’000

0

Credit risk arising from trade receivables is managed on an individual customer basis through a stringent credit assessment
process before any auction. Further assessments with mercantile agencies are instigated when monthly reviews of the ageing
analysis of receivables require additional intervention. Customers exceeding their capacity and credit limits are required to
support these excesses with appropriate securities.

0

Equity $’000

(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that VicForests will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. VicForests is
not exposed to any substantial liquidity risks and is able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. Short-term liquidity
requirements during each month, due to the gap between the payments of harvesting and haulage contractors and
the payments receivable from customers, are covered by a loan facility in the amount of $12,500,000, approved by the
Treasurer of Victoria and extended to VicForests by TCV. Monthly and rolling 12-monthly cash forecasts ensure that liquidity
requirements are met.
The liquidity analysis below details VicForests’ remaining contractual maturities for its financial liabilities. The analysis has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which VicForests
can be required to pay. The analysis includes both interest and principal cash flows.
< 1 mth

1-3 mths

3 mths - 1 yr

1-2 yrs

2-5 yrs

5-10 yrs

TOTAL

2009

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Payables

9,035

0

0

0

0

0

9,035

TCV Loan

0

0

2,301

0

0

0

2,301

Lease Liabilities

3

7

33

72

100

0

215

0

9,038

7

2,334

72

100

0

11,551

< 1 mth

1-3 mths

3 mths - 1 yr

1-2 yrs

2-5 yrs

5-10 yrs

TOTAL

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

424

0

0

0

0

0

424

(0)

0

0
2008

2,301

12

12

(12)

(12)

Lease liability short term

43

0

0

0

0

Payables

Lease liability long term

172

0

0

0

0

TCV Loan

0

0

5,627

0

0

0

5,627

12

12

(12)

(12)

Lease Liabilities

2

3

16

23

65

0

109

426

3

5,643

23

65

0

6,160

Total increase/decrease

30 June 2008
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
TVC loan

Carrying
Amount
$’000
3
340

Interest rate risk
-0.5%
Result $’000

+0.5%
Equity $’000

Result $’000

Equity $’000

0

0

0

0

(2)

(2)

2

2

5,627

28

28

(28)

(28)

Lease liability short term

21

0

0

0

0

Lease liability long term

88

0

0

0

0

26

26

(26)

(26)

Total increase/decrease

38

Interest rate risk
-0.5%

Credit Risk is the risk of financial loss to VicForests as a result of a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument failing
to meet its contractual obligations. VicForests’ maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of
recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet. Authorised counterparties
for Cash at bank and deposits must be Australian Banks or domestic Government Agencies.

Other receivables consist of receivables from employees and third parties and are considered fully recoverable.

Finance leases have been entered into on fixed rates in order to eliminate any interest rate risk.

Carrying
Amount
$’000

(b) Credit Risk

VicForests Annual Report 2009

The amount drawn on the TCV loan facility at 30 June 2009 of $2,300,630 (2008: $5,627,737) was fully repaid by the
beginning of July 2009. The facility with an overall limit of $12,500,000 expired on 30 June 2009 and was extended by TCV
after approval by the Treasurer for another year until 30 June 2010.
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Income Statement - Disclosures (cont.)

(a) Revenue

(b) Operating Expenses

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Sawlogs

54,315

50,521

Pulpwood logs

70,848

74,771

Sales of forest products

Licence fees
Total sales of forest products

172

475

125,335

125,767

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Harvesting expenses

48,027

47,216

Haulage expenses

47,497

48,415

(i) Production expenses

Third party purchases
Cost of making trees available

3,336

641

Grant Bushfire Recovery

1,305

5,680

2

15

217

102

4,860

6,438

Other
Total other

0
(494)

927

947

Inventory value adjustment

(607)

696

96,178

96,780

10,450

9,711

918

852

(ii) Employee expenses

Services provided to other Government Entities

Gain on disposal of assets

0

Other production expenses
Total production expenses

Other revenue

334

Interest
Interest on cash and cash equivalents

101

500

Interest on overdue trade receivables

138

107

Total interest

239

607

Salaries and wages
Superannuation
Movements in employee benefits

1,195

1,235

Other employee expenses

1,158

1,920

13,721

13,718

Road access fee

4,380

2,491

Road maintenance

3,099

4,831

Regeneration expenses

4,872

3,183

12,351

10,505

Total employee expenses
(iii) Roading and regeneration expenses

Total roading and regeneration expenses
(iv) Other expenses
Bad and doubtful debts

28

95

1,588

1,850

88

82

1,452

1,518

117

229

19

6

Motor vehicle expenses

1,807

1,753

Other expenses

2,397

1,931

Professional fees

1,046

2,564

Total other expenses

8,542

10,028

3,479

0

283

286

3,762

286

Contractors and Consultants
External audit – Auditor General
Facilities expenses
Internal audit
Loss on disposal of assets

(v) Amortisation
Biological timber assets
Software
Total amortisation
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Note 4. Income Tax

Note 5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount calculated on the net result. The differences are reconciled
as follows:
(a) Components of tax expense

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Current tax payable

10(a)

(1,457)

589

Adjustments to current tax for prior periods

10(a)

(127)

0

Deferred tax relating to temporary differences

(747)

Income tax expense/ (credit)

(2,331)

(357)
232

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Cash on hand

3

3

Cash at bank

30

340

33

343

Note(s)

Total cash and cash equivalent

21

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement, as follows:

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Balance as above

33

343

Balance as per Cash Flow Statement

33

343

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

3

3

Interest bearing at 3.03% (2008: 7.45%)

30

340

Balance

33

343

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

19,316

27,664

(66)

(95)

19,250

27,569

121

1,259

36

191

19,407

29,019

Note(s)
Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(Increase) in deferred tax assets

10(b)

(579)

(378)

(Decrease)/ Increase in deferred tax liabilities

10(c)

(168)

106

(Increase) in deferred tax assets (Revaluation reserve)

0
(747)

(357)

Net result before income tax expense

(7,355)

770

(2,206)

231

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating taxable income:
Adjustments for prior periods
Income tax expense/ (credit) as reported in the Income Statement

1

Non-interest bearing

2008
$’000

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2008: 30%)
Expenditure not allowed for income tax purposes

Note(s)

(85)

(b) Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax payable

2009
$’000

(b) Cash at bank and on hand

Note 6. Receivables

1

(126)

0

(2,331)

232

Note(s)
Current
Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts
Net trade receivables
Other receivables
Goods and services tax recoverable
Total current receivables
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Receivables (cont.)

Receivables (cont.)

(a) Provision for Impaired receivables

(b) Fair value and credit risk

As at 30 June 2009, current receivables of VicForests with a nominal value of $72,870 (2008: $111,110) were impaired. The
amount of the provision was $65,664 (2008: $94,625). The individually impaired receivables relate to customers, which are

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. The
management of the credit risk is determined following the below ageing of the receivables:

in unexpectedly difficult economic situations. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.
The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

TOTAL

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

3 to 6 months

10

42

Over 6 months

63

69

73

111

2009
Trade Receivables
- of which under
payment plan
- of which secured
by Bank Guarantee
Other Receivables

Not past due
and not
impaired

Past due and not impaired
< 1 mth

1-3 mths

3 mths-1 yr

> 1 year

Impaired

TOTAL

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

19,316

17,252

620

426

945

0

1,992

73

1,486

0

227

409

850

0

1,486

0

295

0

189

79

27

0

295

0

121

121

0

0

0

0

0

0

As of 30 June 2009, trade receivables of $1,991,645 (2008: $1,823,595) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:

Past due < 3 months

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

1,047

1,606

3 to 6 months

915

115

Over 6 months

30

102

1,992

1,823

Provision for impairment recognised during the year
Unused amount reversed / written back

2008
Trade Receivables
- of which under
payment plan
- of which secured
by Bank Guarantee
Other Receivables

Movements in the provision for impaired receivables are as follows:

Opening Balance 1 July

TOTAL

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

95

0

0

95

(29)

0

66

95

Not past due
and not
impaired

Past due and not impaired
< 1 mth

1-3 mths

3 mths-1 yr

> 1 year

Impaired

TOTAL

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

27,664

25,730

739

979

105

0

1,823

111

1,363

0

615

645

103

0

1,363

0

220

0

74

146

0

0

220

0

1,259

1,259

0

0

0

0

0

0

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the higher of the carrying value and fair value of each class
of receivables mentioned above. VicForests does hold collateral as security. Refer to note 2 for more information of the risk
management policy for VicForests.

Note 7. Inventories
The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in ‘other expenses’ in the income
statement. Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering
additional cash.
The other amounts within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on credit history, it is
expected that these amounts will be received when due.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Seed – at cost

5,658

3,141

Logs in log storage facilities – at the lower of cost or net realisable value

6,754

8,535

12,412

11,676

Current

Total inventories

In February 2009 the wildfires destroyed logs in the Anderson log storage facility near Marysville. The book value of $1,959,643
had to be written off.
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Note 8. Biological Timber Assets

Note 9. Other Assets

(a) Volume of standing timber

Current

Estimated volume of standing timber available for harvest
within 12 months (cubic metres)

Note(s)

2009
’000

2008
’000

1(g)

1,730

1,897

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Regeneration make-good asset

1,250

0

Total current

1,250

0

Regeneration make-good asset

261

0

Total non-current

261

0

(b) Net market value of standing timber

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Current – TRP’s available for harvesting within 12 months

1(g)

3,051

3,550

Non-current – TRP’s

1(g)

7,116

3,451

Non-Current – regenerated Coupes

1(g)

727

0

10,894

7,001

Valuation 30 June

Non-Current

Note 10. Tax Assets/(Liabilities)
(a) Current tax asset/(liability)

(c) Reconciliation of net market value of standing timber

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Carrying amount at 1 July

7,001

0

Additions – TRP’s

6,918

7,001

727

Note(s)

Current tax asset/ (liability) is derived as follows:

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Opening balance 1 July

(589)

606

0

Payments made to/ (received from) the ATO

463

(606)

(3,479)

0

Current tax payable

4(a)

0

(589)

(254)

0

Adjustment for prior period in current tax

4(a)

126

(Decrease) due to change in discount rate

(46)

0

Closing balance 30 June

Other increase *

27

0

10,894

7,001

Additions – regenerated coupes
Decrement due to harvesting – amortisation
(Decrease) in average stumpage / cash flow

Closing balance 30 June

1(g)

* Including value adjustments to coupes harvested prior to 1 July 2008 where the regeneration expenses exceed the
regeneration provisions established as per 30 June 2008.

0

0

(589)

Income tax instalments (payable)

0

(589)

Closing balance 30 June

0

(589)

The closing balance represents:

(d) Discount rates
The following discount rate has been applied to the estimated cash flow of the estimated standing timber as per 30 June
2009 to derive a net present value:

Discount rate

2009

2008

11%

10%

The discount rate, which is real and pre-tax, reflects VicForests’ average costs of funds and the current risk profile of
the organisation.

46

VicForests Annual Report 2009

47

Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (cont.)

Note 11. Property, Plant and Equipment

(b) Deferred tax assets

(a) Classes of property, plant and equipment

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Movement in amounts recognised in Income Statement

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Buildings at fair value as at 30 June 2008

597

597

Buildings

Accrued expenses

(27)

78

Less: accumulated depreciation

(21)

(3)

Doubtful debts

(29)

95

Written down value

576

594

Finance lease payments

0

0

Legal fees

0

(20)

At cost

4,593

3,665

Low value pool assets

0

0

Less: accumulated depreciation

(1,261)

(790)

1,984

1,394

Written down value

3,332

2,875

1,093

858

Provisions

(287)

Roads and bridges

Plant and equipment

Tax losses carried forward

4,860

Balance

6,788

1,260

Multiply by 30% tax rate

2,037

378

Less: accumulated depreciation

(643)

(502)

Balance

2,037

378

Written down value

450

356

1,451

339

(149)

(45)

1,302

294

At fair value

247

147

Less: accumulated depreciation

(58)

(27)

Written down value

189

120

0

920

5,849

5,159

Leasehold Improvements

Movements
Opening balance 1 July

1,748

1,370

Credited to the Income Statement

2,037

378

(19)

0

Adjustment for prior period in retained earnings

At fair value

20

Closing balance 30 June

3,766

1,748

(c) Deferred tax liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

At cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Written down value
Vehicles

Under construction
Total Property, Plant and Equipment

Amounts recognised in Income Statement
Depreciation

(563)

Revaluation of buildings

0

68
283

Buildings comprise residences in remote areas rented to employees. They were deemed fair value on transfer from the
Secretary of DSE as at 1 August 2004 and were re-valued as per 30 June 2008 by a qualified valuer. As per 30 June 2009
VicForests undertook a fair value assessment and determined that, based on the Valuer-General Building Indices for Financial
Reporting Purposes, no material or exceptional material movement in building values has occurred and that the carrying
amount of the asset class still materially represents the fair value.

Balance

(563)

351

Multiply by 30% tax rate

(168)

106

179

73

(168)

106

Roads and bridges represent in-forest infrastructure facilitating the harvesting and haulage of timber product from remote
coupes. As there is no reliable market-based fair value for these assets, VicForests uses depreciated cost as reasonable
approximation of fair value.

11

179

Plant and equipment includes computers and communications equipment, furniture and office equipment.

Movements
Opening balance 1 July
(Debited)/ credited to the Income Statement

4(a)

Closing balance 30 June

Leasehold Improvements include office alterations and fittings.
(d) Reconciliation to Balance Sheet
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other for disclosure in the Balance Sheet.

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Deferred tax assets

10(b)

3,766

1,748

Deferred tax liabilities

10(c)

(11)

(179)

3,755

1,569

Net deferred tax assets
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Property, Plant and Equipment (cont.)

Note 13. Payables

(b) Movements during the reporting period
2008 - 09

Opening WDV Additions

Disposals

$’000

$’000

594

0

0

0

2,875

0

0

Plant and equipment at cost

356

280

Leasehold Improvements

294

Buildings at fair value
Roads and bridges at cost

$’000

Revaluation

$’000

$’000

$’000

0

0

(18)

576

0

928

0

(471)

3,332

(7)

0

0

0

(179)

450

0

(13)

0

1,171

0

(150)

1,302

0

(55)

189

0

0

Vehicles at cost

120

167

(43)

0

920

1,179

0

0

5,159

1,626

(63)

0

2007 - 08

Opening WDV Additions

Disposals

$’000

$’000

314

0

0

283

2,861

396

0

439

0

Leasehold Improvements

68

0

Vehicles at cost

76

122

678
4,436

Buildings at fair value
Roads and bridges at cost
Plant and equipment at cost

Under construction
Total

$’000

Revaluation

$’000

$’000

Impairment Depreciation Closing WDV

$’000

Under construction
Total

Transfers

0
(2,099)
0
Transfers

$’000

0

(873)

2008
$’000

Current payables
Trade payables

9,036

424

Accrued expenses

2,057

14,179

Other payables

1,164

5

12,257

14,608

Total current payables

0
5,849

Impairment Depreciation Closing WDV

$’000

$’000

$’000

0

0

(3)

594

0

0

0

(382)

2,875

(9)

0

124

0

(198)

356

0

0

271

0

(45)

294

(48)

0

0

0

(30)

120

1,180

0

0

(938)

0

0

920

1,698

(57)

283

(543)

0

(658)

2009
$’000

5,159

Note 14. Interest Bearing Liabilities
(a) Loan facilities and Finance leases
During 2008 - 09 VicForests maintained a loan facility with TCV as approved by the Treasurer of Victoria to meet its
operational cash flow requirements. VicForests also maintains six finance leases which are all for three year terms. There are
36 equal payments made monthly with a residual payment at the end of the term.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2,301

5,627

43

21

2,344

5,648

172

88

21

172

88

21

2,516

5,736

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Note(s)
Current
Unsecured
TCV loan
Lease liabilities
Total current unsecured interest bearing liabilities

21

Non current
Unsecured

Note 12. Intangible Assets

Lease liabilities

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Software at cost

980

911

Less: accumulated amortisation

(707)

(425)

Written down value

273

486

(a) Software

Total non current unsecured interest bearing
liabilities
Total unsecured interest bearing liabilities
Credit standby arrangements

(b) Movements during the reporting period
Opening WDV 1 July
Additions
Amortisation
Closing WDV 30 June

486

209

Total TCV Facility

12,500

6,100

69

563

Used at 30 June

2,301

5,627

(282)

(286)

Unused at 30 June

10,199

473

273

486
(b) Interest rate risk exposure
The interest rates risk exposure is addressed in Note 21.
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Note 15. Employee Benefits

Provisions (cont.)
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

797

894

1,141

1,374

273

278

2,211

2,546

388

292

388

292

2,599

2,838

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits are set out below:

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Opening balance 1 July

2,628

977

Additional provisions recognised

1,971

2,628

Payments or other sacrifices of economic benefits

(1,737)

Current
Annual leave (nominal value)
Long service leave
-Expected to be settled within 12 months (nominal value)
-Expected to be settled after 12 months (present value)
Non-current
Long service leave
Total employee benefits

Reductions from re-measurement or settlement without cost
Closing balance 30 June

0

(270)
(707)

2,862

2,628

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

3,200

0

0

164

3,200

164

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

164

0

3,200

164

Non-Current
Employee numbers at end of financial year is 132 full time equivalents. (30 June 2008: 143)

Provision for regeneration of coupes

The following assumptions have been used to calculate the provision for long service leave as at 30 June 2009.

Provision for restructure
Total Non-Current

Wage inflation rate: 4.45%.
Discount rates for years 1 – 12 range from 5.620% to 3.005%.

Note 16. Provisions

Opening balance 1 July
Provision recognised during year

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Provision for regeneration of coupes

2,450

2,237

Provision for employee entitlements

46

65

Provision for restructure

161

326

Provision for legal expenses

205

0

2,862

2,628

Current

Total Current

Payments or other sacrifices of economic benefits
Closing balance 30 June

(164)

0

3,200

164

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Refundable auction deposits

8

0

Total Non-Current

8

0

Note 17. Other Liabilities

Non-Current
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Note 18. Contributions by Owners

Note 21. Financial Instruments

Opening balance 1 July
Movements in the year
Closing balance 30 June

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

21,346

14,345

6,918

7,001

28,264

21,346

(a) Interest rate risk exposures
The following table details exposure to interest rate risks at 30 June 2009:
Fixed interest rate maturity
Weighted
average effective
interest rate %

Variable
interest rate
$’000

Less than 1 yr
$’000

1 to 5 years
$’000

Non interest
bearing
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets
Cash

30

0

0

3

33

10.00%

2,144

0

0

17,227

19,371

2,174

0

0

17,230

19,404

-

0

0

0

12,257

12,257

Interest bearing
liabilities (TCV loan)

3.165%

2,301

0

0

0

2,301

Finance lease
liabilities

10.30%

0

43

172

0

215

2,301

43

172

12,257

14,773

Receivables

Note 19. Reserves

Total

Note(s)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

198

0

0

283

Property revaluation reserve:
Opening balance 1 July
Movement in the year - revaluation

3.03%

11

Movement in the year - deferred tax

0

Closing balance 30 June

198

(85)

Financial liabilities
Payables

Total

198
Financial Instruments
The following table details exposure to interest rate risks at 30 June 2008:
Fixed interest rate maturity

Note 20. Retained Earnings
Note(s)
Opening balance 1 July
Prior year adjustments

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

7,321

6,783

(19)
7,302

Profit/ (loss) after income tax expense

(5,024)

0
6,783
538

Weighted
average effective
interest rate %

Less than 1 yr
$’000

1 to 5 years
$’000

Non interest
bearing
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets
Cash
Receivables

7.45%

340

0

0

3

343

12.00%

1,515

0

0

27,313

28,828

1,855

0

0

27,316

29,171

-

0

0

0

14,608

14,608

7.415%

5,627

0

0

0

5,627

8.38%

0

21

88

0

109

5,627

21

88

14,608

20,344

Total
Financial liabilities

Transfer from reserves

0

0

Payables

Dividend paid during the financial year

0

0

2,278

7,321

Interest bearing
liabilities (TCV loan)

Closing balance 30 June

Variable
interest rate
$’000

Finance lease
liabilities
Total
(b) Fair Value

There is no material difference between the carrying amounts and fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities.
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Note 22. Commitments

Commitments (cont.)

(a) Capital commitments

(c) Other operating commitments

As at reporting date, VicForests has capital commitments for the following payable within one year:

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Property, plant and equipment

0

237

Intangibles

0

128

Total

0

365

2008
$’000

73,754

13,954

129,591

2,693

-

-

203,345

16,647

As at 30 June, VicForests had the following other operating commitments
expected to be paid as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year but within 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total

In 2008-09 the organisation put to competitive tender the harvest and haul work of its contractors. Terms ranged between
two to five years.

(b) Lease commitments

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Operating lease commitments
The value of operating leases entered into at 30 June but not recognised as
liabilities are expected to be payable as follows:
Within 1 year

1,443

748

Later than 1 year but within 5 years

1,317

590

Total

2,760

1,338

63

21

Later than 1 year but within 5 years

191

88

Total minimum lease payments

254

109

Less: future finance charges provided in the accounts

(39)

(0)

Total

215

109

43

21

172

88

215

109

Finance lease commitments
VicForests has motor vehicle finance leases. The commitments are as follows:
Within 1 year

2009
$’000

(d) Cost of road access fee
VicForests is party to an agreement with DSE to determine, manage and fund maintenance costs associated with timber
haulage on the Forest Road Network. The timber haulage tolls are established on the basis of the costs of maintaining the
Road Network and the volume and distance hauled over the network. The agreement also includes the sharing of funding
of a Bridges and Structures fund. This agreement and the associated charges are being reviewed and confirmed on an
annual basis.

Note 23. Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
(a) VicForests is a defendant in a prosecution by Worksafe under the Occupational Health and Safety Act in relation to an
accident involving a contractor’s employee.
(b) VicForests is currently involved in a pricing dispute with a major client and has agreed to resolve this matter by a third party
determination. The appointed expert will determine both issues affecting VicForests’ revenue with this client as from 1st
January 2009 and going forward.

Represented by
Current liability
Non-current liability
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Note 24. Related Party Transactions

Note 25. Responsible Persons Related Party Disclosures

There were no amounts paid by VicForests in connection with the retirement of responsible persons of VicForests during the
financial year.

(a) Responsible persons
The names of persons who were responsible persons at any time during the financial year were:
The Hon John Lenders, Treasurer (1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009)

There were no loans in existence by VicForests to responsible persons or related parties at the date of this report.
There were no other transactions between VicForests and responsible persons and their related parties during the financial year.
Expenses incurred during the financial year resulting from transactions with other State Government related
entities were:

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

CenITex

269

0

Department of Primary Industries

368

215

6,158

7,039

Department of Transport (previously Dept of Infrastructure)

242

490

State Revenue Office

602

580

Treasury Corporation of Victoria

109

62

88

82

175

144

19

16

8,030

8,628

Related Party

Department of Sustainability and Environment

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority
Victorian Rail Track
Total

VicForests’ other responsible persons are as follows:

Position

Name and title

Period

Chairman

Paul Barker

1 July 2008 – 18 March 2009

Director
Chairman

Warren Hodgson
Warren Hodgson

7 October 2008 – 18 March 2009
19 March 2009 – 30 June 2009

Director

Monica Gould

18 November 2008 – 30 June 2009

Director

Jim Houghton

1 July 2008 – 30 June 2009

Director

Fiona McNabb

1 July 2008 – 30 June 2009

Director

Catherine Scott

1 July 2008 – 31 October 2008

Director

Bob Smith

1 July 2008 – 30 June 2009

Director

Susan Walpole

18 November 2008 – 30 June 2009

Accountable Officer

David Pollard, Chief Executive Officer

1 July 2008 – 30 June 2009

The number of responsible persons other than the responsible Minister and their total remuneration was within the specified
bands as follows:

Income band ($)
Revenue generated from services rendered to related entities:

Related Party
Department of Sustainability and Environment
Department of Sustainability and Environment (Paper Australia contract)
Department of Treasury and Finance (Bush fire salvage grants)
Total

Total Remuneration
2009 No.

2008 No.

$0 - $9,999

1

0

$10,000 - $19,999

3

0

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

3,336

641

$20,000 - $29,999

3

4

17,783

18,458

$40,000 - $49,999

1

0

1,305

5,680

$50,000 - $59,999

0

1

22,424

24,779

$280,000 - $289,999

0

1

$300,000 - $309,999

1

0

Total numbers
Total amount

9

6

$487,399

$450,314

Remuneration paid to the Minister is reported in the Annual Report of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
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Responsible Persons Related Party Disclosures (cont.)

Note 26. Superannuation

(b) Executive officers’ remuneration

VicForests makes employer superannuation contributions to a series of funds in respect of employees. These funds have two
categories of membership, each of which is funded differently.

The number of executive officers (excluding the Accountable Officer) and their total remuneration during the reporting
period are shown in the table below in their relevant income bands. The base remuneration of executive officers is also
shown. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long service leave payments, redundancy payments and
retirement benefits.

Income band

Total Remuneration

The Emergency Services Superannuation Schemes and the State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme (SERBS) are multi–
employer sponsored defined benefit plans. As these funds assets and liabilities are pooled and are not allocated by employer,
the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers. As provided under paragraph 32(b) of
AASB119, VicForests does not use defined benefit accounting for these contributions.

Base Remuneration

2009
No.

2008
No.

2009
No.

2008
No.

Under $100,000

2

1

2

1

VicForests makes employer contributions to the defined benefit funds at rates determined by each funds Trustee on the advice
of each funds Actuary. The other funds receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer
contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings as required under Superannuation Guarantee
Legislation. No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits accruing to the employees are represented
by their share of the net assets of the funds.

$110,000 - $119,999

0

0

2

0

VicForests contributes in respect of its employees to the following superannuation schemes:

$120,000 - $129,999

1

0

1

1

$130,000 - $139,999

0

0

1

0

$140,000 - $149,999

1

1

1

1

$150,000 - $159,999

2

1

0

0

$160,000 - $169,999

0

0

0

1

$170,000 - $179,999

0

0

1

1

$180,000 - $189,999

0

1

0

0

$190,000 - $199,999

0

1

0

0

$200,000 - $209,999

1

0

0

0

$220,000 - $229,999

1

0

0

0

Total numbers

8

5

8

5

Total amount

$1,039,995

$732,357

$852,639

$735,924

Scheme Name

Type of Scheme

2009

2008

Contribution Rate

$’000

Contribution Rate

$’000

Emergency Services
Superannuation New Scheme

Defined Benefit

7.3% - 10.2%

187

7.3% - 10.2%

175

Emergency Services
Superannuation Revised Scheme

Defined Benefit

17.3%

63

17.3%

48

State Employees
Retirement Benefits
Scheme (SERBS)

Defined Benefit

12.68%

9

12.68%

8

VicSuper

Accumulated Fund

9.0%

570

9.0%

520

Other

Accumulated Fund

9.0%

89

9.0%

101

Total contributions
to all funds

918

852

At 30 June 2009 there were no outstanding contributions due to the Government Superannuation Office (GSO) (an operating
division of the Emergency Services Superannuation Board which manages the Emergency Services Superannuation Schemes and
the SERBS) (as at 30 June 2008: $52,447).
As at the reporting date, there were no loans to or from VicForests to any of the above funds.
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Note 27. Reconciliation of Profit/(Loss) for the Period After Related Income Tax to
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Reconciliation of net result after income tax expense to net cash provided by operating activities:

2009
$’000
Net result for the period after income tax

(5,024)

2008
$’000
538

Non-cash movements:
(Profit) / loss on disposal of non-current assets

17

Allowance for doubtful debts

28

95

Depreciation and amortisation

4,635

944

Write-down of timber assets in log storage facility

1,960

0

274

0

Decrease in net market value of biological timber assets
Prior year tax adjustment

(19)

(9)

(0)

Movements in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/ decrease in trade receivables
Decrease in other receivables
(Increase) in inventories
(Increase) in biological assets (Regenerated coupes)
(Increase) in other assets
(Increase)/ decrease in prepayments
Decrease in current tax asset

9,583
0
(2,696)
(1,511)

0

127
0

Increase/ (decrease) in payables

(2,351)

Increase in other liabilities
Increase/ (decrease) in current tax liability
Increase in deferred tax liability
Net cash flows from operating activities

(5,304)
0

(2,186)

Increase in provisions

930

(727)

(Increase) in deferred tax asset
Decrease in employee benefit liabilities

(12,560)

(239)
3,270
8
(589)
0
4,560

(63)
606
(462)
1,763
(294)
1,815
0
589
106
(11,306)

Note 28. Dividends
It is proposed to pay no dividend for 2009.

Note 29. Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date
No matters and/ or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affect or may significantly
affect the operations of VicForests, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of VicForests in future financial years.
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Auditor-General’s Report
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Legal and
other compliance
Whistleblowers Protection
Act 2001
VicForests is committed to the aims and
objectives of the Whistleblowers
Protection Act 2001, which encourages
and assists people in making disclosures
of improper conduct by public officers
and public bodies. The Act provides
protection to people who make
disclosures in accordance with the Act
and establishes a system for the matters
disclosed to be investigated and rectifying
action to be taken.
In keeping with the requirements of
Section 104 of the Act, VicForests reports
that there were no disclosures or
investigations of improper conduct or
detrimental actions made to VicForests
by staff or any referred to VicForests by
the Ombudsman or other persons.
VicForests’ Whistleblowers Protection
Act procedures can be obtained by
contacting the Protected Disclosure
Officer. Disclosures of improper conduct
or detrimental action by VicForests or its
employees may be made to the following:
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator:
David Pollard, or
The Protected Disclosure Officer:
Anne Hodgson
VicForests
Level 7, 473 Bourke Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
Tel: 03 9608 9500
Fax: 03 9608 9566
Email: vfs.admin@vicforests.com.au
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Disclosures may also be made directly
to the Ombudsman:
The Ombudsman Victoria
Level 9, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
Tel: 03 9613 6222
Toll Free: 1800 806 314
Internet: www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au
Email: ombudvic@ombudsman.vic.gov.au

Information Privacy
Act 2000
In keeping with the Information Privacy
Act 2000, VicForests has developed and
implemented a Privacy Policy. It can be
obtained from VicForests or information
can be viewed on the website at
www.vicforests.com.au.

Freedom of Information
Act 1982
The Freedom of Information Act 1982
allows the public a right of access to
documents held by VicForests. From
1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009, VicForests
received two Freedom of Information
requests. The requests, received from
the general public, were dealt with in
accordance with the Act. Application
fees and access charges received during
this reporting period totalled $46.10.
VicForests’ website contains guides
which details requirements of the
Freedom of Information Act 1982.
Further information can be obtained
from the Freedom of Information
Officer, by telephoning 03 9608 9500.
Freedom of Information requests must
be made in writing, accompanied by a
$23.70 application fee addressed to
Freedom of Information Officer,
VicForests, Level 7, 473 Bourke Street,
Melbourne Victoria 3000.

Building Act 1983
VicForests endeavours to ensure that
contractors comply with the Building Act
1993 in respect to new building works
and alterations to existing buildings.

Victorian Industry
Participation Policy Act 2003

Additional Information
Available on Request

Reporting of Office-based
Environmental Impacts

In compliance with the requirements of
the Standing Directions of the Minister
for Finance, details in respect to additional
information (subject to the provisions of
the Freedom of Information Act 1982)
are available from VicForests’ Freedom
of Information Officer.

VicForests is exempt from the reporting
requirements of this item.

Disclosure of Major
Contracts
VicForests has not entered into any
individual procurement contracts
over $10 million.

Employment and Conduct
Principles

Promoting Diversity
VicForests fosters workplace diversity
demonstrated by its commitment to an
inclusive work environment through a
number of workplace diversity initiatives
throughout the year.

VicForests is committed to applying
merit and equity principles when
appointing staff. The selection
processes ensure that applicants
are assessed and evaluated fairly
and equitably on the basis of the
key selection criteria and other
accountabilities without discrimination.

The Victorian Industry Participation
Policy Act 2003 (VIPP) requires relevant
departments to report on any
contracts entered over $3 million in
metropolitan Melbourne or $1 million
in regional Victoria.
VicForests continues to observe the
VIPP objectives in its procurement and
tendering mechanisms and processes.

National Competition Policy
Under National Competition Policy, the
guiding legislative principle is that
legislation, including future legislative
proposals, should not restrict competition
unless it can be demonstrated that:
	The benefits of the restriction to the
community as a whole outweigh the
costs; and
	The objectives of the legislation
can only be achieved by
restricting competition.
VicForests continues to comply with
the requirements of the National
Competition Policy.
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Appendix 1
disclosure index

Legislation

Disclosure Required

Page

Report of Operations - FRD Guidance
Charter and purpose
FRD 22B

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers

2, 26, 59

FRD 22B

Objectives, functions, powers and duties

2, 10, 15, 27

FRD 22B

Nature and range of services provided

2, 10

Organisational structure

8

Management and structure
FRD 22B

Financial and other information

SD 4.2(a)

Statement of Changes in Equity

24

SD 4.2(b)

Operating Statement

22

SD 4.2(b)

Balance Sheet

23

SD 4.2(b)

Cash Flow Statement

25

SD 4.2(b)

Notes to the financial statements

26

SD 4.2(c)

Compliance with applicable Australian accounting standards
and other authoritative pronouncements

26

SD 4.2(c)

Compliance with Ministerial Directions

26

SD 4.2(c)

Accountable Officer’s declaration

63

SD 4.2(d)

Rounding of amounts

26

Other disclosures in notes to the financial statements
FRD 21A

Responsible person and executive officer disclosures

59

FRD 112B

Defined benefit superannuation obligations

61

Legislation
Audit Act 1994

41, 64

Building Act 1983

66

Financial Management Act 1994

26

59

Freedom of Information Act 1982

66

Employment and conduct principles

67

Multicultural Victoria Act 2004

67

FRD 22B

Statement on National Competition Policy

67

National Competition Policy

66

FRD 22B

Statement of availability of other information

67

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

66

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001

66

FRD 22B

Five-year summary of financial results

21

FRD 22B

Statement of workforce data, and merit and equity

20

FRD 22B

Summary of financial results for the year

21

FRD 22B

Significant changes in financial position during the year

24

FRD 22B

Operational and budgetary objectives, and performance against objectives

16, 21

FRD 22B

Major changes or factors affecting performance

6, 10

FRD 22B

Occupational health and safety

13

FRD 22B

Subsequent events

18

FRD 22B

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

66

FRD 22B

Application and operation of Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001

66

FRD 22B

Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993

66

FRD 22B

Details of consultancies over $100 000

69

FRD 22B

Details of consultancies under $100 000

69

Consultant

FRD 24B

Reporting of office-based environmental impacts

67

(a) Consultancies in excess of $100,000

FRD 25

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures

66

FRD 29

Workforce Data disclosures

20

FRD 10

Disclosure Index

68

FRD 12A

Disclosure of major contracts

67

FRD 15B

Executive officer disclosures

FRD 22B

Key:
FMA Financial Management Act 1994, as amended
FRD Financial Reporting Direction issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance
SD

Standing Direction of the Minister for Treasury and Finance

Appendix 2
consultancies
Nature of Work

Fees 2008-09 ($)

Deloitte

Forest Contracting Advice

125,060

MBAC

Low Grade Log Sales Project

103,000

29

411,325

(b) Consultancies less than $100,000
68
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial statements required under Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994

VicForests’ Annual Report is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation. This index has been prepared to
facilitate identification of VicForests’ compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.
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acronyms
AAS

Australian Accounting Standards

AFS

Australian Forestry Standard

ARMC	Audit and Risk Management Committee
ATO

Australian Tax Office

DSE	Department of Sustainability and Environment
FMA

Financial Management Act 1994

FRD

Financial Reporting Direction issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance

FSC

Forest Stewardship Council

GPC

Government Purpose Classification

GST

Goods and Service Tax

Ha

Hectares

JoSHL

Joint Sustainable Harvest Level

LSL

Long Service Leave

LTIs

Lost Time Injuries

LTIFR	Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
NTER

National Tax Equivalent Regime

OH&S	Occupational Health and Safety

Authorised and published by VicForests
Level 7, 473 Bourke Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000

OSL

Orientated Strand Lumber

SD

Standing Direction of the Minister for Treasury and Finance

SERBS

State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme

SFMS

Sustainable Forest Management System

Also published on www.vicforests.com.au

TCV

Treasury Corporation of Victoria

© Copyright VicForests 2009

TIS

Timber Industry Strategy

This publication is protected by copyright. No part may be reproduced by any process except
in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

TRP

Timber Release Plan

VIPP

Victorian Industry Participation Policy

WACC

Weighted Average Cost of Capital Calculation

WDV

Written Down Value
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CONSUMER
The text pages contained in this report
are printed on Australian Paper. All fibre
used to produce this paper come from
sustainable sources and is manufactured
using 42% renewable energy.

VicForests uses
Greenhouse Friendly™
ENVI Carbon Neutral Paper
ENVI is an Australian Government
certified Greenhouse Friendly™ Product.

The text pages contained in this report are
printed on ENVI 140gsm Carbon Neutral
Australian Government certified Paper.
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